5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Hon. Roger M. Young, Sr. Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001541

Civil Action No. 2015-CP-10-0330

RECEIVED

JUL 10 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Gary Nestler and Julie NestlerAppellant,

v.

Joseph E. FieldsRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Andrew J. McCumber
Slotchiver & Slotchiver, LLP
44 State Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: (843) 577-6531
Facsimile: (843) 577-0261

COUNSEL FOR THE APPELLANT

Paul B. Trainor, Esquire
Alan Belcher, Esquire
Hall Booth Smith, P.C.
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 550
(843) 720-3460

COUNSEL FOR THE RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES.

- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL ABSOLUTE WHERE THE JURY'S AWARD WAS INCONSISTENT WITH THE EVIDENCE AND CLAIMS PRESENTED, WAS THE RESULT OF THE JURORS' CONFUSION; OR WAS MOTIVATED BY AN IMPROPER PURPOSE.

- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CHARGING THE JURY ON THE ISSUE OF FAILURE TO MITIGATE DAMAGES WHERE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THEIR AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 15, 2015, Gary Nestler (hereinafter “Mr. Nestler” or “Nestler”), and his wife, Julie Nestler (hereinafter “Mrs. Nestler”, or collectively “the Nestlers”) brought an action against Joseph E. Fields (hereinafter “Mr. Fields” or “Fields” alleging careless, negligent, and reckless operation of an automobile resulting in a collision. R. 19. The Nestlers further claimed that Mr. Fields conduct directly and proximately caused personal injuries to Mr. Nestler, thus giving rise to claims for personal injury and for loss of consortium. *Id.* The Nestlers, having previously settled their claims with the liability carrier for Mr. Fields prior to filing suit, properly served their Summons and Complaint on QBE Insurance Company. R. 492.

On April 20, 2015, QBE Insurance Company answered the Complaint on behalf of Mr. Fields, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 denying, in large part, the entirety of the Nestlers’ Complaint, and setting forth a number of various affirmative defenses. See, Answer. R. 24. Mr. Fields later withdrew five of the affirmative defenses prior to trial. R. 31.

Julie Nestler later withdrew her claim for loss of consortium. R. 61. Trial commenced in the negligence action on April 25, 2016, and the jury reached a verdict on April 26, 2016. R. 58. The judgment was entered on April 29, 2016. R. 1.

On May 6, 2016, Mr. Nestler filed a Motion for New Trial Absolute. R. 39. On July 11, 2016, the Court denied Nestler’s motion. R. 2. Mr. Nestler filed a Notice of Appeal and served the same upon the Mr. Fields on July 26, 2016. R. 56.

FACTS

On or about May 8, 2014, Gary Nestler and his then eleven-year-old daughter, Aspen Nestler, were traveling in their vehicle on Hwy. 17 in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina. R. 137. While waiting in traffic to turn into Boone Hall Plantation, Mr. Nestler's vehicle was struck in the rear by the Mr. Fields's vehicle (hereinafter "the collision"). R. 137. As a result of the collision, Mr. Nestler received medical treatment from various medical providers over the course of 2014 and 2015. R. 142 to 156; 157 to 158.

On January 15, 2015, Mr. Nestler filed the above-styled action in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit claiming damages arising from the collision. R. 20. Mr. Nestler alleged that Mr. Fields operated his vehicle in a careless, negligent, and reckless manner, and with the willful and wanton disregard for the safety of others. R. 22. Mr. Nestler claimed damages in the form of noneconomic damages, including past, present, and future pain and suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, diminished capacity, and mental anguish. R. 22 to 23. Nowhere in Mr. Nestler's Complaint, including his demand for relief, is a single reference made to a claim for medical expenses.

A jury trial commenced on or about April 25 and 26, 2016 wherein Mr. Fields admitted his negligence in connection with the collision. R. 58. Thus, the only issues at trial were causation and damages. During the trial, Nestler proffered testimony regarding the past, present, and future damages sustained by Nestler as a direct and proximate

result of Mr. Fields's negligence.

Mr. and Mrs. Nestler both testified to Nestler's pain and suffering, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, diminished capacity, and the injurious effects of Mr. Fields's negligent conduct on Nestler both past, present, and future. R. 101-104; 121-122; 137-149; 138-161. Nestler presented evidence by way of his treating physician regarding causation, as well as damages sustained, as well as the nature, extent, and frequency of medical treatment received by Nestler in connection with this accident. R. 268.

Further, Nestler's treating physician testified that there was no additional medical treatment available which would cure Nestler's injuries; thus Nestler would continue to suffer the same damages in the future. Nestler's treating physician also testified as to Nestler's permanent impairment, giving Nestler an overall permanent impairment rating of fifty-three (53%) percent. R. 268.

Mr. Fields argued that Mr. Nestler failed to mitigate his damages. Yet, at trial, Mr. Fields failed to offer any expert testimony which would support their argument that Mr. Nestler's failure to obtain certain medical treatment(s) was the direct and proximate cause of Mr. Nestler's damages. Mr. Fields also failed to proffer any other evidence that Mr. Nestler failed to mitigate their damages.

Prior to the commencement of trial, Counsel for Mr. Nestler notified Counsel for Mr. Fields that Mr. Nestler would not be seeking reimbursement for medical expenses in their prayer for relief. At trial, Mr. Nestler did not include or reference the medical

expenses in their opening statements, nor did he proffer any evidence of same during his case in chief.

On the last day of the trial, prior to the cross-examination of Mr. Nestler, Counsel for Mr. Fields requested a sidebar with the Court regarding several issues he wished to address during cross-examination. While the sidebar is off the record, it is apparent that the issue of medical bills was raised during that conversation based upon the following exchange once the parties were back on the record:

THE COURT: All right. So this stuff about medical bills all that?

MR. TRAINOR: I'm going to cross [Mr. Nestler] on [the medical bills], but I'm not going to put that up on the screen or anything like that. I think I'm entitled to ask him – I mean, I think that's a – even if they're not making a claim, I think I'm entitled to say you've incurred \$7,000.00 in medical bills.

R. 168. Counsel for Mr. Nestler objected to this line of questioning on the basis that the medical bills were not relevant to any issue before the Court as the amount of the medical bills did not have any tendency to make any material fact in dispute more or less probable. Mr. Nestler also objected that the introduction of the medical bills would likely confuse the issues before the jury. The trial court overruled Nestler's objections and allowed Fields's to cross-examine Nestler on the amount of his medical bills.

During closing arguments, Counsel for Mr. Fields intimated that Nestler was trying to hide his medical bills from the jury in an apparent attempt to cast dispersion on Nestler's credibility. Counsel for Mr. Fields even went so far as to ask the jury to

consider awarding Nestler his medical expenses:

MR. TRAINOR: *It's odd I introduced in cross-examination the medical bills. I don't think I ever had [to] do that in a case ever. I want you to think about why, why I want you to know that number, \$7,117.50. It's because it's a really low number. Because there's not a lot of treatment.*

* * *

Obviously, we're here to talk about numbers. We've heard a number. What they're asking is for you to render a verdict against the Defendant for \$365,000, I think. ... Juries will sit and say, well, we got to factor that in somehow. I mean, surely there's a reason that number exists. That number has no bearing on your decision today. That number has no relevance. It's not evidence....

Mr. Field's has admitted that he caused the accident. He was negligent. That doesn't mean that you can't award whatever you want to award. If it's something nominal? Sure. Medical bills, maybe? I don't know. Is it less than that? That's a decision you have to make.

R. 242 to 243.

During juror deliberations, the jury requested the exact amount of Nestler's medical bills. R. 481. After deliberating for an hour and fifteen minutes, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Nestler—in the exact amount of his medical bills (\$7,117.50). R. 1. The jury failed to make any award damages actually claimed by the Mr. Nestler, including past, present, and future pain and suffering, mental anguish, loss of enjoyment of life, and diminished capacity.

The Court allowed the parties ten (10) days to submit all post-trial motions, and Mr. Nestler filed a Motion for New Trial Absolute, pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCF. The Court denied Nestler's Motion and Mr. Nestler subsequently filed this appeal. R. 4.

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES.

“All relevant evidence is admissible ... [e]vidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “Relevant evidence” means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE.

“Pain and suffering is recognized by the Courts of this State as a very material element of damages on which a recovery may be bottomed.” *Harper v. Bolton*, 239 S.C. 541, 124 S.E.2d 54 (1962) citing *Campbell v. Hall et al.*, 210 S.C. 423, 43 S.E.2d 129 (1947); *Boan v. Blackwell* 43 S.C. 498; 541 S.E.2d 242 (2001). “Damages for pain and suffering are unliquidated and indeterminate in character and the assessment of unliquidated damages must rest in the sound discretion of the jury, controlled by the discretionary power of the trial Judge.” *Harper*, 239 S.C. at 548. “Pain and suffering have no market price ... [and] are not capable of being exactly and accurately determined, and there is no fixed rule or standard whereby damages for them can be measured.” *Id.*

It is the duty of the trier of fact in deciding these damages to consider the

evidence in light of their own life experience and make a judgment on that basis as to what is reasonable under the circumstances. The amount of economic damages which might also have been sustained by the Plaintiff in the case has no relationship to that decision making process and makes no issue for determination either more or less probable.

Appellant cannot locate a single South Carolina decision ruling directly on the issue of whether medical expenses are relevant in determining the amount of non-economic damages sustained. However, the Supreme Court of this State has held on at least one occasion that the determination of economic and non-economic damages ought to be two very separate and distinct decisions. *See, Boan v. Blackwell*, 343 S.C. 498, 541 S.E.2d 242 (2001) (“A separate charge on hedonic [non-economic] damages will minimize the risk that a jury will under- or over-compensate an injured person for her non-economic losses. While there are cases in which it is difficult to segregate the various components of these types of damages, we conclude that a separate charge will clarify for the jurors the issues they should consider in awarding money for injuries which are not readily reducible to specific amounts.”)

A deeper analysis into the underlying issue can be found in a review of opinions from other States’ courts who have confronted the issue. The prevailing view appears to be that there is simply no link between medical expenses and non-economic damages.

In the case of *Corenbaum v. Lampkin*, 215 Cal. App. 4th 1308 (2013), the California Court of Appeals examined the issue at length:

One of the most difficult tasks imposed upon a jury in deciding a case involving personal injuries is to determine the amount of money the plaintiff is to be awarded as compensation for pain and suffering. No method is available to the jury by which it can objectively evaluate such damages, and no witness may express his subjective opinion on the matter.

... Translating pain and anguish into dollars can, at best, be only an arbitrary allowance, and not a process of measurement, and consequently the judge can, in his instructions, give the jury no standard to go by; he can only tell them to allow such amount as in their discretion they may consider reasonable.... The chief reliance for reaching reasonable results in attempting to value suffering in terms of money must be the restraint and common sense of the jury....'

Lawyers have used the amount of economic damages as a point of reference in their argument to a jury, or in settlement discussions, as a means to help determine the amount of noneconomic damages. We need not comment on this practice except to state that **it can provide no justification for the admission of evidence that is otherwise inadmissible and that is not relevant** We conclude that evidence of the full amount billed is not admissible... for the purpose of proving noneconomic damages.

Corenbaum, 215 Cal. App. 4th 1308, 1332 (2013) (*internal citations omitted*) (**emphasis added**)

Likewise, in the case of *Martin v. Soblotney*, 502 Pa. 418, 466 A.2d 1022 (1983), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court reached a similar conclusion:

It is well established that the fundamental consideration in determining the admissibility of evidence is whether the proffered evidence is relevant to the fact sought to be proved. ... In the instant case [Plaintiff's] medical bills were offered to establish the total amount of money he expended on medical treatment for his injuries on the theory that such figure would aid the jury in determining the amount to award him for pain and suffering. Our inquiry, therefore, must focus on the evidentiary question as to whether the dollar amount of the medical services provided is probative of the degree and extent of [Plaintiff's] pain and suffering.

It is immediately apparent that **there is no logical or experiential**

correlation between the monetary value of medical services required to treat a given injury and the quantum of pain and suffering endured as a result of that injury.

The *Martin* court noted that the amount of medical bills is not an adequate indicator for the jury to consider in awarding hedonic damages, as there are far too many variables involved:

First, the mere dollar amount assigned to medical services masks the difference in severity between various types of injuries. A very painful injury may be untreatable, or, on the other hand, may require simpler and less costly treatment than a less painful one. The same disparity in treatment may exist between different but equally painful injuries. Second, given identical injuries, the method or extent of treatment sought by the patient or prescribed by the physician may vary from patient to patient and from physician to physician. Third, even where injury and treatment are identical, the reasonable value of that treatment may vary considerably depending upon the medical facility and community in which care is provided and the rates of physicians and other health care personnel involved. Finally, even given identical injuries, treatment and cost, the fact remains that pain is subjective and varies from individual to individual.¹

Thus the fact that a particular amount of money was expended to treat an injury bears no logical correlation to the degree of pain and suffering which accompanied the injury to the plaintiff in question, forces the conclusion that such evidence possesses no probative value in a determination as to the appropriate monetary compensation to be awarded. **Evidence of the cost of medical services is therefore irrelevant and, consequently must be held to be inadmissible for that purpose.**

Martin v. Soblotney, 502 Pa. 418, 466 A.2d 1022 (1983) (*internal citations omitted*) (**emphasis added**); *See, also Carlson v. Bubash*, 639 A.2d 458, 462 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1994)

In one decision out of the Eastern District of Virginia, the District Court, relying

¹ It is worth noting that the factors enumerated by the *Martin* court are nearly identical to the reasoning proffered by Counsel for the Plaintiff during his closing argument in an attempt to ameliorate the harm which had been created by the erroneous admission of the medical expenses.

on the *Carlson* decision, also held that medical bills were inadmissible for purposes of proving pain and suffering:

[A] single figure representing the total amount of an individual's medical bills does not demonstrate the number of times the person received treatment or the nature of the treatment. ... In some instances, one noninvasive diagnostic test can cost as much as many visits to a physical therapist or chiropractor. Therefore, the medical bills have no tendency to establish [Plaintiff]'s claim that he experienced pain and suffering as a result of the accident. The Court accordingly holds that the medical bills are inadmissible

Even if the Court were to conclude the medical bills are relevant and admissible ... **there is a substantial possibility of jury confusion if the medical bills were introduced to prove pain and suffering.** The jury may be **tempted to treat the medical bills as recoverable special damages** rather than to only assess the medical bills as evidence that Payne experienced pain and suffering.

The jury may also be confused by the medical bills' characterization of the treatment Payne allegedly underwent because the treatment is described in the bills in summary, imprecise terms. ... Furthermore, introduction of the medical bills into evidence would be overly cumulative: **whatever tendency they would have to prove pain and suffering may already be amply demonstrated by other, more probative evidence, such as the testimony of [Plaintiff] and his doctors.**

Payne v. Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91849, (E.D.Va., 2008)

(internal citations omitted) **(emphasis added)**

In the present case, Counsel for Nestler objected to any cross-examination of Nestler on the amount of medical bills, or the introduction of same to the jury on the basis that the medical bills were not relevant to any issue in dispute, and further, that there was a danger the introduction of same would confuse the issues before the jury. The trial court overruled this objection, adopting a position wholly incongruent with the

law of this state and the rules of evidence by holding that unclaimed economic damages were a proper consideration for the jury in forming a non-economic damage awards:

MR. SLOTCHIVER: *I think [examining Nestler on the medical expenses] is not relevant to the issue. What [the Defense] is trying to do is they're trying to lower the bar of his damages. The amount of medical bills have nothing to do with the damages he sustained. It's irrelevant. We elected not to put them in. We're not asserting a claim for loss for medical bills.*

THE COURT: *I disagree. I mean, the fact you didn't ask to put it in doesn't mean that it is not relevant. And it's the basis for their cross-examination. If you didn't have any medical bills or they were small, then obviously, the argument that I hear hundreds of times is your damages couldn't have been very much if your medical bills weren't very much.*

MR. SLOTCHIVER: *Your honor, I would respectfully disagree.*

THE COURT: *Well, you can. And you can appeal if you think I'm wrong. But it's coming in for that reason.*

MR. SLOTCHIVER: *To show what the medical bills were?*

THE COURT: *To show what the medical bills were. Normally, people put them in. But just because you didn't put them in doesn't mean that they can't put them [in] for the purpose of showing that the damages weren't very substantial. They're used for that purpose in almost every trial.*

R. 168 to 169; cf. *Boan v. Blackwell*, 343 S.C. 498, 541 S.E.2d 242 (2001) (“[A] separate charge [for non-economic damages] will clarify for the jurors the issues they should consider in awarding money for injuries which are not readily reducible to specific amounts.”)

In the present case, Nestler did not claim losses for medical expenses incurred as a result of the collision. Nestler's claims included past, present, and future pain and

suffering, loss of enjoyment of life, diminished capacity, and mental anguish. The amount of economic damages which might also have been sustained by the Plaintiff – whether ten dollars or ten million dollars – is in no way relevant to determining that issue as the amounts do not “tend to make any fact in dispute more or less probable.” Rule 402, SCRE.

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