THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 09 2017

Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-10-00330
Appellate Case No. 2016-001541

SC Court of Appeals

GARY NESTLER AND JULIE NESTLER,

Appellants,

v.

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

Appellant also misguidedly cites Waring v. Johnson, 341 S.C. 248, 533 S.E.2d 906 (Ct. App. 2000) for the proposition that a jury award of only economic damages, without an award for non-economic damages, is improper. In Waring, this Honorable Court affirmed the trial court's decision to grant a new trial *nisi additur* where the trial court granted *additur* in the amount of \$40,000. There, the plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident in August 1992

¹⁰ The plaintiff in Howard made a motion for a new trial *nisi additur*, arguing that the jury ignored the law as it related to pain and suffering. Howard, 376 S.C. at 148, 654 S.E.2d at 879. However, Appellant never made a Motion for New Trial *nisi additur* and, therefore, that option is not available to Appellant on appeal, and should not be considered by this Honorable Court. This distinction is critical because, had the court had the option of granting an *additur*, and actually granted such a motion, Respondent would have had the option of accepting the *additur* or receiving a new trial absolute. In essence, Appellant argues that the jury failed to follow the court's instructions on pain and suffering, and failed to award non-economic damages based on evidence presented. The proper method for dealing with this issue would have been to file a motion for new trial *nisi additur*, which Appellant did not do, and, therefore, failed to preserve this issue on appeal.

and began a course of treatment spanning over five years. The plaintiff presented to numerous physicians, including a neurologist at the request of a physician, and subsequently underwent a spinal surgery. Waring, 341 S.C. at 251–56, 533 S.E.2d at 908–11. After the jury awarded the amount of Waring's medical bills, Waring moved for a new trial *nisi additur* or, alternatively, a new trial absolute. Waring, 341 S.C. at 255, 533 S.E.2d at 910. The trial court denied Waring's motion for a new trial absolute, but granted the motion for a new trial *nisi additur*. Waring, 341 S.C. at 255, 533 S.E.2d at 910. This Honorable Court upheld the *additur*, strongly considering the fact that Waring sought medical treatment for years following the accident, and "took advantage of every recommendation of her physicians" Waring, 341 S.C. at 260, 533 S.E.2d at 912.

Both Howard and Waring are significantly distinguishable from the present case, and operate to defeat, rather than bolster, Appellant's arguments. Despite Appellant's reliance on Howard, that ruling clearly demonstrates that it would have been error for the trial court to apply the thirteenth juror doctrine in granting a new trial on the sole issue of damages. Furthermore, the evidence presented in the case at bar is not nearly as compelling as those contained in Waring. Here, Appellant refused to adhere to the referrals and recommendations of his physicians, and received sporadic medical treatment for a period of only a few months.¹¹ Moreover, and most importantly, the trial court in Waring denied the plaintiff's motion for a new trial absolute, but granted a the motion for a new trial *nisi additur*. Appellant failed to move for a new trial *nisi additur*, which was the method by which the plaintiffs in Howard and Waring sought to correct an allegedly inadequate verdict that did provide an award for non-economic damages. As this Honorable Court stated, "Procedurally, the trial court cannot use [the thirteenth

¹¹ The course of treatment and Appellant's compliance with recommended treatment is markedly different from the plaintiff in Waring. For a detailed description of the numerous physician recommendations and referrals Appellant refused to follow, see infra, pp. 23–24.

juror] doctrine as a vehicle to grant a plaintiff a new trial on the issue of damages alone. Instead, the trial court should have ruled on [Plaintiff's] motion for new trial *nisi additur*, and in its discretion, increased damages for pain and suffering." Howard, at 157, 654 S.E.2d at 884. Appellant did not move for a new trial *nisi additur*, and cannot seek this remedy for the first time on appeal.¹²

Appellant contends that the jury's award is inconsistent with the claims and evidence presented because Appellant was not claiming medical expenses as damages, and there was extensive testimony regarding Appellant's non-economic damages. As the trial court correctly found, the jury "was not 'actuated by improper motivation,' nor confused about its duties[]", and there was evidence "which may have cast doubt on the credibility of [Dr. Schoderbek's testimony and Appellant's testimony] and the extent of the plaintiff's injuries." R. p. 11.

B. The jury, in its sole discretion, reasonably could have discredited or disregarded evidence of Appellant's alleged non-economic damages.¹³

"The assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury." State v. Wright, 269 S.C. 414, 417, 237 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1977). "[A] jury is not required to accept uncontradicted witness testimony, as credibility is a question for the jury." Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc., 387 S.C. 539, 549, 694 S.E.2d 1, 6 (2010) (citing Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 410 S.E.2d 595 (Ct. App. 1991)); see also Green v. Greenville County, 176 S.C. 433, 439, 180 S.E. 471, 473 (1935) ("It was peculiarly the province of the jury under the facts of this case to pass upon the credibility of the statements testified to by the plaintiff, who was an interested witness, and directly affected by the result of the trial."). It is solely for the jury to determine

¹² In its Order denying Appellant's Motion for New Trial Absolute, the trial court addressed the issue of a new trial *nisi additur*. R. p. 12–13. However, Appellant never made any such motion, either expressly or by reference. See R. p. 43–49.

¹³ As previously mentioned, Appellant's argument necessarily requires this Honorable Court to speculate as to the nature of the jury's award. Respondent contends that it is not the court's responsibility to determine what form of damages were awarded in the present action, but only whether the award is supported by the evidence.

"the inherent probability of the testimony and the credibility of the witness or the interests of the witness in the result of litigation." Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 410, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996).

Appellant's brief makes no mention of the extensive credibility issues raised at trial that could have led a jury to disregard the evidence regarding Appellant's alleged damages, and ignores well-established precedent that the jury, not the trial court or the parties, is responsible for weighing evidence and credibility.

For instance, during cross-examination, Appellant was impeached with evidence that he failed to disclose during discovery a prior motor vehicle accident and lawsuit where he claimed permanent bodily injuries. Contrary to Appellant's discovery responses, and his testimony at trial, Appellant was presented with a prior Complaint where he alleged permanent injuries, and was represented by his current counsel for that claim. See Def. Ex. 3, ¶ 7.¹⁴ Notably, Appellant's wife was also a plaintiff in the prior lawsuit. See Def. Ex. 3.

Additionally, there were ample issues raised during Dr. Schoderbek's testimony. Dr. Schoderbek testified that he and Appellant were "friends" prior to treatment related to the subject accident. R. p. 278, lines 24–25. Dr. Schoderbek's records contained recommendations that Appellant take various courses of action, including seeing a neurologist, undergoing an EMG, and receiving an injection. He stated:

Q. Okay. And despite these four discussions and four entries, you are now telling me you didn't believe it would be of any benefit?

A. Well, I can offer recommendations on patients and it's their decision if they want to have that evaluation or not.

¹⁴ Appellant did not include in the Record this prior Complaint that was submitted to the trial court. Upon information and belief, Appellant intends to supplement the Record in accordance with Rule 212, SCACR.

R. p. 319, lines 2–7. In August 2014, Dr. Schoderbek assessed Appellant with an 8% whole person impairment, which did not reference any alleged nerve damage. R. p. 395. Sixteen months later, in December 2015, without any treatment between, Dr. Schoderbek revised his whole person impairment rating to 32%. R. p. 390–391. When asked why various range of motion measurements were missing from his records, Dr. Schoderbek testified that he "just didn't put it in the note." R. p. 325, lines 16–20. Dr. Schoderbek also changed his opinions regarding which nerves may be affected between August 2014 and December 2015:

Q. After that, that's -- that's August 22, 2014. Sixteen months later you then have a new impairment rating of, what was it, 53 percent [upper extremity impairment]?

A. Yes, I believe so.

Q. And at that time it's no longer the radial and ulnar nerves. It's the ulnar and medial nerves; is that correct?

A. Yes. That's what I wrote.

Q. You didn't mention the radial nerve at that time?

A. No, I did not.

Q. You didn't mention the medial nerve in your August 22nd entry, did you?

A. No, I did not.

R. p. 329, line 23–p. 330, line 11. Furthermore, Dr. Schoderbek believed that Appellant sought a new impairment rating solely for the purpose of trying to "resolve" the present action:

Q. I see. So he came -- he came back to you for a revised permanent impairment in hopes of resolving this litigation?

A. That's my understanding.

...

Q. Are you aware that that last visit was approximately six weeks after Mr. -- Mr. Nestler's deposition?

A. No, I did not.

R. p. 335, line 23–p. 336, line 1; R. p. 336, lines 9–12.

Finally, Dr. Schoderbek admitted that it was not advisable for Appellant to discontinue physical therapy, and admitted that his records reflecting "extensive" physical therapy was an exaggeration:

Q. So a patient at their -- at their leisure can -- you would -- you would say that that's an acceptable course of action?

A. I wouldn't say it's always acceptable, but it happens.

...

Q. From what I can tell Mr. Nestler went to nine visits of physical therapy. Is that extensive in your mind?

A. I wouldn't say extensive. I'd say he went to -- he went to some therapy, but I wouldn't say extensive. I guess I -- I guess I didn't fully realize he had only gone to nine visits.

Q. Did he mislead you on that?

A. No, he said he was doing therapy and -- he had done some therapy, but it's also doing a lot of stuff on his own as well.

Q. So the word extensive is an exaggeration?

A. No, it's not -- yes, extensive is an exaggeration.

R. p. 348, lines 8 – 12; R. p. 348, line 25–p. 349, line 14; R. p. 372 ("Patient has done an extensive amount of conservative treatment . . .").

The jury is the sole judge of credibility, and the jury was charged that it could "believe the [] testimony of a witness in its entirety or you can reject the testimony of a witness in its entirety." R. p. 252, lines 21–23. There was ample evidence that would allow the jury to discredit the testimony of the witnesses, and it was not within trial court's province to weigh credibility or evidence, or to speculate as to what the jury did or did not consider, and

Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to decline to engage in the type of conjecture that Appellant seeks on appeal.

III. EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO SUPPORT A FAILURE TO MITIGATE JURY CHARGE, AND APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE OR EVEN ALLEGE PREJUDICE RESULTING FROM THE CHARGE

"When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues." Id. "If any evidence supports a requested jury charge, the trial court should grant the request." State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 614, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007) (emphasis added). "An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id.

In support of its contention, Appellant argues that Respondent "failed to proffer any causational evidence or counter expert medical testimony to support this affirmative defense." Appellant further argues that Respondent failed to show that Appellant's failure to engage in additional treatment caused Appellant to suffer more damages. Id. Respondent has not found, nor has Appellant provided, any legal authority requiring expert causational evidence or counter medical testimony to support a failure to mitigate charge. Rather, the law is quite clear that, where any evidence exists to support a charge, the charge should be given to the jury. Ward, at 614, 649 S.E.2d at 149.

In his deposition used at trial, Dr. Schoderbek was asked several questions regarding the purpose for referring a patient for additional medical treatment, and admitted it would be detrimental for a patient to not follow a physician's recommendations:

Q: How often do you refer patients to physical therapy or occupational therapy or outside treatment?

A. Daily basis.

Q. Okay. What's the purpose for you doing that?

A. Try to get people feeling better so they can go back and do all the fun things they want to do.

...

Q. Okay. And so the most important reason you refer anyone to another provider is to make them better?

A. Yes, it is.

...

Q. Okay. Do you say it's detrimental if a patient does not follow a physician's recommendation?

A. Yes, I believe it is detrimental.

R p. 302, lines 19–22; R. p. 303, lines 11–14; R. p. 304, lines 3–6.

Appellant was referred to physical therapy, two to three times per week, for six to eight weeks, and he attended three visits despite being told he would have an excellent prognosis if he was compliant with physical therapy. R. p. 342, line 15–p. 343, line 16. He was referred to additional therapy at a second provider, two to three times per week, for six weeks, and he attended five visits, at which time Appellant was discharged for failure to return. R. p. 345, line 12–p. 346, line 10. When presented with the fact that Appellant presented to physical therapy less than one-third of the recommended amount, Dr. Schoderbek again conceded that this course of action was not advisable:

Q. And you agree that it may be detrimental if a patient does not follow a medical provider or physician's recommendations.

A. It could be, yes.

Q. It could be. And your recommendation was two to three times a week for six weeks. And he went for five visits and you don't see a problem with that?

A. Obviously you wish patients to go as much as will help them. I don't always have control of patients' lives and their direction and thought process there. But you know, we would like them to go as much as we would recommend . . .

R. p. 347, lines 11–23. Not only did Appellant refuse to comply with physical therapy recommendations, he refused to see a neurologist as recommended; refused to undergo a nerve conduction study despite four recommendations; and refused a steroid injection despite three recommendations. R. p. 340, line 23–p. 341, line 5; R. p. 318, lines 21–p. 319, line 2; R. p. 340, lines 12–18.

It is unquestionably clear that Dr. Schoderbek made numerous recommendations and referrals to Appellant, for the paramount reason of getting him better, and agreed that it would be detrimental for a patient, such as Appellant, to refuse to follow those recommendations and referrals. This testimony surely satisfies the "any evidence" standard that Appellant failed to take a reasonable course of action, as recommended by physicians, to treat his alleged symptoms.¹⁵

Based on the foregoing, the trial court properly submitted to the jury a failure to mitigate charge and, even if this charge were deemed improper, Appellant has not argued or demonstrated that he was prejudiced by the same.

CONCLUSION

Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in any manner. Appellant's argument rests entirely upon the proposition that Appellant did not seek recovery for medical expenses at trial, and a verdict for an amount equal to the medical expenses

¹⁵ Even if this Honorable Court were not convinced that the evidence supported a charge for failure to mitigate damages, Appellant has failed to demonstrate—or even argue on appeal—that he was prejudiced by the jury charge, and has failed to satisfy its burden on appeal in regards to this issue.

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